




O 7 THE 

lrivt W 2OBK, TART It 

ndiOted-ror Robbery in the DOgre 

ndjotment  November 10th., 1909. 

ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY DAVTAL 

People. 

GEOR S. MheDONALDIESQ., for the Defense. 



(The jury 118 been empaneled and sworn, 

admonished the jury in aorite with section 4 

the Code of Criminal Procedure, and adjourned th 

of the case until two o'clock p. 

of 297 Tenth Avenue,, a witness called 

n behalf. f the People being duly sworn *stifled a 

taaDONALD: I-. ask that all. the witnesztes beoem. 

THE COURT: Yes; I will o. order. 

1:10CT Zr.ANCINATION BY MR. 

Your name is John Conlon, and you reside at 29 

Avenue, and you are a driver by occupation; are you not. 

• hear you, and slowly enough so that the t eno graphs* 

take down what you say. 

BY B. MURPHY: 

C/ Did you ever see the defendant at the bar before 

sir, on the 6th. 

Q On the 6th of _November?. A Y 



irat t 

4 What time of day was it? A (nit ,eleven o'clock 

In 28th Street, west of Seventh Avenue. 

Q And did- you have a conversation with her? A She spilt 

T Q Now Just say es, OT no.  to that -question. Did yo 

conversation - with"lier?. 

4. Did she talk to you 'Zeeair. 

4 And did. she speak to you before you spoke to her 

4 What did she say to you . A She said, !Mon. t,go with 

that woman. Come with me to.'..my..room. That one wants to bring 

you o :a hallway. There was 'one woman ahead:' of me on the street 

when she said that, 

What was that?: A .There Was a woman going down'. the. 

. block, and this wOMart (indicating the defendant.) turned back, 

and .she Said, "Montt .you .go with that woman," she 'says. 

am going with nobody.I've got no 

.money to go with anybody. "I 'am going home.0 And she 

• "DOnft you go with that one. - She wants to take you .into 

and come with me, I have  a nice room in  31at- -Street* 

and I said, "No,•• I am ,going home... I've got no money,,, 

.she said, ."I• only want she 'came halfway - Wu the 



ck with *Asp .-ak 

t 3làt Street 

And is that all the conversation: you ha.. wi 

t to sr room at 

e Estree A Yes,. sir. 

And you wont with her to her room? A Yes, 

•Q, And what: further conversation did you have there wi 

her, if any? A She said, "Wait a minute," when I went I 

and.when I took off my bat and coat "Give Me a dollarand 

gave her a dollar. 

Was anybody in the room besides yourself and the defend 

ant when you entered, or when you had this conversation? 

A No, sir. Then she said, Wait until I cane back And she: 

went out and I was sitting on the side of the bed, with my 

hat and coat off, and she came in again after she was three 

or four minutes out not five minutes and she commenced 

o walk around the room and I didn't like her appearance and 

was sorry for going in at all. 

1. MacDONALD: / object to this answer, if your Honor. 

lease, and move to strike it out. 

MR COURT: Yea. Starting with the words, "I did not. 

ike her appearance, the balance of the answer is stricken 

out, as irreaponsive). Now, Mr. Witness, you will have to 

talk a great deal slower that means not so fast -  and -

a geed deal louder. Now, take your time. 

By MURPHY: 

;VI 



New, site tame ?ma; did she .L She 

After having'ePne out for a time from the room? 

sir about four minutes. 

when she came back did you have any conVersa 

Did she say anything to you Wbai she came back 

Q Now, what She didn't say no more 

then but she laid down on the be,and this fellow, in the 

q The fellow known as Prank Martin? A Yes; s 

Q. Now, wait a minute. We are getting along too fast. 

Did .she have her 'clothes on, when she laid down on the bed? 

A She had some of her clothes on. 

And ,then did anyone come into the room? A Yes this 

prank 3dartin. 

Did you e'er see him before the time he came into the 

,ro-om?. A Never. 

yr, did he say anything when he came into the, room? • 

• He ran eVerv and pointed the revolver at my head (illustrat-

nd be said, What are you doing here with my wife? 

And'xiiidt "That an old chestnut. It she is veur wire what 

made her bring me in hereand take a. dollar #0. met! And lie 



-on the head here (indicating the left side of the tasdo and 

en he struck me again in the Jaw,. 

Q Did you see anything A The revolver 

was pointing at my head all the time(illustrating), 

Are inditatin 

That is, on your forehead? 

Q On the left hand side of the forehead? 

And where did he strike you the second time? A On 

the right ilde of my chin indicating). 

MURPHY: 

Q, And what did he say then, or what. did he dot. 

the revolver away (illustrating) and he swung the revolver and 

give me the revolver right n the aye there (indicating the 

left eye).. 

And did you. feel any bad effects from the blow in..tbe 

eye with the revolver? A Yes, sir X felt the roost going 

around like that (illustrating), 

ItacDONAMD: X object to that, and move to strike -

that out if your Honor please* 

THE COURT: Objection overruled* Motif) 

R. nompOlTALD: Mcception. 



pocket, and took ,my etbook au 

And what did that pocketbook contain a 

A There was between nine and eleven dollars in it. And then 

Q Look at this watch which I show you. 

BY TI1E COURT: 

before you open it, was there anything in. it that 

worked for her then 

Q Now was that the watch that was in your pocket in that 

at 'that time, on that night (indicating)? 

CI And is that the watch that Martin took out of your 

ooket? 



MR. MURPHY: : 

Q And was there anything taken by Martin from your pock 

ets,besides the pocketbook and the watch and chain at that 

OM? A Yes,sir; a ,Knife and. 4 Canadian Penny., 

Q And after that W a PPened? A And after he rObin 

hen he went over and iiad a -whisper with her (indicating 

the defendant). 

With the defendant? A _Yes r. And she ea 

that will do. Let him 

And, while he was going through your pockets did YOU 

see the defendant doing anything? A She was sitting over a 

e window on a chair, laughing. 

id she saY anything to.you? A 

Ora' during the time that Martin was going through 

Our: pockets* or. afterwards? A 

Ct And you heard Martin say 

not a word. 

or heara the defendant say 

Martin "Let him go now.- That's, eno .A Yes. 

q, And did you go? A Yee. 

Q. You went out of the house? A Yegit s 

And where did you go to? A to the station house. 

And you made a complaint there? A Yes, 

Q And did you, in company with an officer, go 

premises a 338 West 31st Street? A Yea, air  

Q And to a room in those premises? A Yes s 

back to the 

I did. 

MR. MitoDONALD: I object to it,H leading your Honor. 



• THE COURT; Well, I will let it stand that he went 

ere to those premises. 

cDO.NAIZ I take an exception/ 

*'ow,:teU Ius.iat happened got back to tb.ë 

use there, with an officer? e went. -AO a-- couple. àí t.0.0 

.and the first room. we went to, I said, the room." 

Arid.we.. Went to another rOom, and I said:.'4."Thi...!:i.s the room where.: 

the assault Wae•oo).MAitted;'''... And there Was.H.a.yount:man cooking 

s .sup.per;there, and. • woman ran out, as .we..Went:.•niietair 

couldn't get a good look at her,, and the officer said 

young ma 'Where is that woman that just ran ou1 of here? 

'And he•said, "I don't know, d I said that was the room' 

that I was assaulted and robbed in. 

And did you see the defendant at any time. that 

house A Yes, sir. 

Q, Before • you got out of the house again with the officer 

You did. see her here? A Yes •sire 

Q And did You See the man Martin ,w cm you mentioned, 

the house When you were -there with the officer? A. Yea, sir. 

Q And a man. named Denikel A Yes. 

And another woman -woMan beaidee the defendant? A. Yee air. 

Now, what did you see thti. officer do, f anything, a 



that.ott saw t Se four ,Per0 officer 

e on the doors a 

00 there? 

or wouldn't en a t ey ea 

d: be said, Ak-police offi cer. 0 en -the door 

reak.it in and the door Watt opened, and .Martin wa 

standing on the floor, and Ms wife was at the side of the b 

and this .defendant WaS in the bed ith'-Denike I said 

"There is the man that robbed me and aSsatilted me(il1uatr 

ng 

Pointing to whom? 

beret-. 

A To Martin. And this party, 

The defendant here, you mean? A Yes sir,indicating 

She had her head under the sheet of the bed. And I said the  

woman that was Martin's wife, that be said was his wife, wasn't 

he party. And I told the officer to take the clothes o 

this woman head and he did, and said "That's the woMan* 

And he said, "Get up out of there,. and he made the fellow, get 

p, and this woman. And, when she got up, she said he went 

to strike me, she squared her fist at. me (111uStrating 

Martin Shook his fist. at her that way (113.ustrating), and says 

to her, You got me in. this scrape. 

MacIMNAIDI I move!. o strike that out, that "She 

went to strike me, as a conclusion of the witness. 

THE COURT: Yes.,. I will strike that out. 

-.BY-THE CRT: 

Q You ean that she put up her bands with her fist olontoltakt 



Was she then? A About three fee 

eat 

as4-1- recollect it but I will ask him again_ about .t 

uror. 

You said to the officer, "Make that 'woman tak& the 

;Clothes - off her (Act,. meaning the :defendant? . 

Q. And did" the officer make her take the  Clothes down trOrk. 

her.head, the bed, clothes? ,A Yes, sir. Andi said, "That's 

the woman that brought me in here." 

And you  heard •Martin say to her what? A He held out: 

his hand like that (illustrating by sbking his_fist). and  _said,. 

"You got me into this scrape: 

Q What did the defendant say, if anything, when Martin 

said that? What, if anything did this woman who is now on 

trial say to Martin? A - She said nothing. But she said to 

"Will your wife be a You are married?* 

and She said, "Will your  

I'll shame you,and I said;, 



hem search  thei roc* 

Us -what lou.saw:-the officers 

of =searchtug the room? A Well,  the fellow .that was-

,V40'woman in bed .there, got out of the bed, and the officer 

.searched him, and he had some Money in his pockets, and I told 

0 'officer that I couldn't swear to it, that,: I- couldn't id0rC4 

it; And they *got a pemy in his pocke 

Where was the watch 'founds .if at all? A Alai thern 

officer raise up the carpet and take it out. 

Q affiter.,010W. You t o-,watch be took -.0. 

A Yea, r; he iold: it' up.„ that illustrating), an 

"That's- my watch,: 

•And the officer .asked Martin where: the gun was and ,t 

watch and he said he had .no gun or watch-. .rhait was when w, 

first went in. And he said, "Is there any gun in .thiS. 

Aiid.iratt443. 

And 89 they got .a loaded cartridge on the sbureau, and, 

en they searched around, and  raised the bed up, the rnattre 

and they pulled the gun out and the ona cer paid "Here 

is the 

Q. Now describe the revOliter that they took out? A A 

-.7013.*er like that one you have in your hand (indicating). 



And did Martin.:say anything w 

from under, the mattress of the te 

he officer ..said.'to..1:hiM,.. "I thoug 

eld on his head, and said nothin 

'I THE C4RJRT: 

Who took the revolver out from the bed? 

Officer Watson,. 

0$8-EX/WpATION BY MR, MitcDONALD; 

And where did you work, on November 6, 1909? 

driving at the,.Belmont 'Hotel. 

What did you do there? A Driving a horse and hazuse 

Q Who did you dri ye it for? A Mrs Haverty. 

And bow lOng did you work on that job? A About six 

Q, Anct when ttie you finish work, that night? A Maybe 

it was a little after eight o'clock; around clock or 

a little after. 

youQ Didn't  'swear, this morning, that you stopped wor 

at five o'clock? A r did not, sir. 

THE COURT: Another question, now, win ellor• 

THE W12 

TP2 COURT: That j sufficient, you have .answered, 



And where did_ you go  then? A I to.otk'*-.par down ta 

.40th Street and Third. Avenue, I went -over to the - Murray 

'Hill Hotel, to see another party there, and he  was gone home. 

1, Did. you have a drink 'eh 

'ct And where did you go from .there? A I went froM,ther 

:go hop*. 

What. street did you walk through?... X Went 

490 'Street to Fifth. Avenue, and. I walked down Fifth Avenue 

-38thr Street, and -through • 313.tb: Street to pioren-,0,.0.0040, 

down Seventh •Avenue to 30th Street. I had. flonim ravu.4y14ert a. 

the corner Of 30th  Street  at an oyster stand there. 

ct Did you have a. drink there?'; No. 

Q . Now, after you had  the raw oysters, where did.' you 

walked down Seventh Avenie to 28th: Street,. 

Q And Where did .y u go.. then? A I went through 28th 



And where did you say You met this defendant? A • 

little west of Seventh Avenue. 

eventh or  Eighth? A A little west of Seventh 

• tvreenH',Oeventb and Eighth? A Well, maybe 40 ys 

...of Seven 4.)V enUe.-. 

ueetlign-..re .eated A Yea,1-:jair 

What time of . night .was it. that you. met,- her? 

take. any trouble t. look at the 

be after nine o'elock, arlYiveYi or ten. -

were .yo4...int:Oxicated_ at that limo? A .g$, air, I 

!row .mar, drinks had you had  up to that time?. 

first? A She spoketo me first. 

Q Do u remember how she was dressed? A 

(Question repeated)? 

Q Did she have this same dress on (indicating)? 

and she had no 'hat on .her either. 

A .No. sir. 

And where did you go with her from there? 



TENTH TUEOR:ffa 

-TIM COURT: Yes., 

BY TER TENTH. JUROR: 

16 

West 31st Street. 

Q And what kind of a house is that? What does it look 

like? A Well, it is an old fashioned private house, an aid 

timer. 

stoop bonset with :s" op?: A Tel, e 

Q And.1.0. the house next dear similar to7lt? .4 Jiit. 

:':..013.Out the same. -There is, two or. three .honspiii that*, ,Wit1:4:.• 

'boards nailed' -across .the •stlie)p there,. this Side of thet..,hOue 

Now, *hat time a night did you  arrive' -there? A we 

my Qpinion is, 1414/eel ten and.leleyen. I didatt...1.00k at the 

Q And where did you go in that house? A Ithink I we 

up one flight to a r.om en the left hand side ir,t the back.'  

Q In the •back? A Yee. 

And what did you go to that room_ for?, A Beg pardon?' 

(Question repeated)? A Well, prosecution 

pose: 

Prosecution? Yes. 

MR. PHY: I suppose he -means prostitutiOn. 

,not perhaps as learned as you are, Mr. MacDonald. 

BY MB 1WR 
You mean. proetitution? A Yes, air. 

ask a question? 



q Where de you live? Where did you live at that Um 

297 Tenth Avenue, corner of 27th Street. 

And* between the time when: 

did you have any more 

ad no drink at all at the ti. 

- THE, COURT: Now, you have -answered. 
BY BR. litacDOVAT2): 

And when did you leave t 

Wire been about eleven o 

was too much upset from What had happened 

ct to the latter part of the 

it out... 

e out all of the answer from 

of the answer. 



Q, A then .at.ter that did YOU go. with : t cet oflcer 

Q Now, up to that time, did you haveanother drink? 

Now when you ard ved with the police offiCsra. 

11YlelisTe there were two the house, what time of night was 

it then? A WeU,.I should say it must . be after twelve.,. 

cause they kept me quite a time in the station house, until 

they would be ready to go with me. It must have been betweau 

And when you entered the house where did you go? 

We went up to a room first* and there was somebody there 

in the rooms ,ad I said, "This ain't the room. 

did you go with the officers to a room in that 

house? A told him, *This ain't the room. 

then vie Went to another- room, and 

was. 'eesaulted and robbed." 

rooms did you go into? . A . Two. 

Q Didn't you testify this morning, that you 

A And I am telling you now that I oat 14 one room 

for nearly an hour and a half or two hours but it illaa tr the 



Er TER cou4T: 
you sat for about an hour or two hours 

in the room in which L you say you had been previously assaulted 

that evening; Is that s 

BY 1111. ItacDONALD-: 

And the room that you s4r you had been assaulted 

you. sat in for two hours? A Yes.; about. 

And did you see the defendant there in that room 

No, sir. 

Then where did you v., after two hours? A There 

an officer sitting with me at the time in. the room, and.be 

said to the man, 'There did that .woman go that ran out of 

here?" And he said, "I don't know," and he 'said "'Are you 

•Itelter nal* the. conversation. -. •• Where.- did. you go then?: . 

One of the. °facers 

T1 COURT: N. You. were asked a simple question.: . 

BY  TUE .COURT;-: 

..A.fteo.•yo4 left the room where you say you, at for two 

hours, where did you go" A To another edam on the top 

floor,l'ront,...40: the same house.  

4... :And. 4ow..• 3:40g did you :reMsit. 3n that roost.: 

longer' #.40.' to .make the iirremt.. 

liakaqtaD;! 

Q And what people were in that roam when you:ar red 



there? A The defendant, and Prank Martin and this other 

and the party that Prank Martin said  was: biB Wifo; tie mm 

Q And are they the same people that you said you saw 

saw Martin and ber eforefindicating the 

ant). I didn't see the other two parties before 

you_ see ,in the roomwbee ye were 1tb 

the n the top floor? A I see the defendant and Fr 

'Martin and the woman -Prank Martin said was tiis wife, and the 

other man. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Now, yoi are talking of the room in which the 

Q, And .that was a, room on the -top floor of. the 4ouse.„ 

the:. front?'• 

13Y..-161, IlfacDONTAX4: 

.4' And that is not the room that  you .went into the first 

time you Were in: that house, that ,night? A• No., 

Q- And did you have .4 drink up to that time that you, went 

.into that room on; the top floor? A No, sir. 

Wereni t you under the influence of liquor 

that, night? A.No, 51r. I bad two drinca all lay, a drink of 



,!• 

and a glasslager aM perter all d 

Q, Only WO drinks all ? A Yes sir. Sometimes I'll 

e a month that I don take a- drink, 

• Q How many times .did you visit the house after the firs 

time you left it? A Only once, 

.MORPHY: Just a momen don't quite under-

stand that. After he left it first to go to the police 
• ation 

*R. liacDONALD: Yee. 

HE WITNESS: I met a police officer on his beat, 

and he collie up there with me, and didn't go in the room 

and he said he stood in the door of the room and h 

,"Do you know anything about this man's watch! and 

a- man put out his'head, and said • "No And then.12e said 

• to me 

• Who did? The officer? A Yes sir. ,!'Well,you -had 

..better go to the. station house, and make .a comPlitint -and, you 

get a couple of detectives., and they will do more than I can 

for you. hollered at the door when I first went out,„ an 

the policeman came up. 

Q, And the policeman cams, up to you when 

1h8troni of O. house? A Yea., 

•Tht Was when you firet went out oftbe house?'Yes, 

1#10it you s 

310;01-0red att 

OU Tie it 0 0 ono* 

it 



did indeed. 

ien you. arrived at the pOlice etatio 

wasn't much after 

eleven A - twelve 

,And •whOn. these *triple were arrested, what time did y 

arrive at the station bowie? A Well, it -must be about half 

past two or thereabouts; about half past two thi 

Q And did you fall asleep in the StatioU.house? 

When you, visited the house, did you have .any trouble 

finding the room that you were looking for? A 

You say positively that all you bad_ that day,, were 

two or three drinks? 

THE couni: No, we will not go any further into tb*t 

You have questioned him enough about that. 

BY MR. ItacDONALD: 

Q Didn't the officer say to you when he went to loot for 

the watch, didn't he say, "Why, there -is. your watch in your 

A No, sir, he didn't. 

And then didn't over to the carpet, and ny, 

*Here it is and shake the watch, like. that (illustrating 

sir, he didn't; no such thing. • 



BY. Tp• .STXT# MORI' 

You .say you went backfromttlepolice station with. t 

officer and the first rooM- you Went into, you said you sat , 

for two hours. .What were you doing for two hours? A The 

bffioer told .m0 to wait there along with him,: and the other 

officer went to search the. house. 

BY Mi. MURPHY: . 

Q There were two officers with Yo 

And one sat with you, and the other searched the house, 

And you awaited the result Of his search? A Y 

BY THE COVRT:. 

Now, did you bleed from the blow that you -received, 

that night? A No, sir, but ;ay. eye was closed g4, 04104,4: 

tap• like that (illustrating). 

•CROSS BXAMINAT/ON B'T TR . I To. a 011ALD : 

When did you first find out that her name was Mamie 

fly; tl*t this d_efendant e newt  was And* Daily? 



oourthoutot at the station house, at least. 

tt And when did you find out D.enike's nam 

the station house. 

And in's name? A At the station I 

Q• You new none of them before 

heir name? A 

'Mie.DONALD: That's al 

if the complainant 

see no reason why he should b 

t perhaps he may want to stay 

witüess called in behalf .of the people 

testified as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. 

You are a police officer, attached 

of the Municipal •Police of the City of New York? A Yes, sir. 

Q - On the night of the 6th on the morning of the 7th 

of November, did you arrest the defenda4t,7 

- Now, please state to the Court and 1luzy al the cirm 

cumstanCes surrounding her arrest? A The complaining witness, 

John Conlon, came to the station house and I had a conversa-

tion With him in the station house. 



AS a result Of that conversation what did you do? 

went with the complaining wit*SaS, John Conlon to Sr 

338 West 31st Street, and searched through two rooms there.': 

Q Did anyone else go with you? A Officer Lavack. 

we went to the top floor, rant room, and brought the-

plaining witness into this rvaln when we got into. 

the complaining pointed out the defendant as the wo*aa 

Q Now, Just what was his statement? What did he say 

relative to this WaMan the woman that 

brought me up here." And he pointed the other defendant, 

Martin out as the man that assaulted and robbed hi*. 

And what did he say about Denike, If anything? A I 

say anything about Denike. 

And there was still another woman there; was there? 

There was still another.woman there.: 

(1, And what did he say about her? A He said that bile. 

was his . wife. 

ho said tbit 

mean the immix ft 

ftbout her? A said 

prroeed, Oicer  

rig witness.. Did liesai'anYth 

liOntng about her. 

A When we went into the room 



...-141.11•1" 

- 

if there was a revolver in the room, and he said no. So I wen 

between tbes.two mattresses, and I put ray hand under there, 

pulled it up, palled out a revolver. 

TE3 that the revolver ( indicating)? A Yes 

What was the condition of the revolver as ;ex as r 

• tridge.s were concerned? A it was loaded with blank partridi 

• except one chamber, that didn't have anything in 

And did you show the revolver to Martin? A I showed 

e revolver to Martin, and he said it didn't.  belong to him 

and he  didn't know how it got there. . 

.Yes. A :The defendant was in bed with Stephen.Den • 

•the two of thOm undressed, laying in the bed; and he ad .the e 

clothes when we come in, she pulled the clothes up over bez 

.head, and covered her face and then I pulled the bed clothe 

down from her face, and the complaining Witness identified 

r. 

What .did he :say n his- identification Of 

said,  'This is the woman who brought me up here." 

4 . And what did.. she ,say to him, if anything? A I don't 

reMember what she  said to him. 

Now, did you continue your investigation .of the room?. 

I told the Daily woman and Denike to  get up and dress them'  -

selves, and then we searched the room. *derneath the carpet, 

near. the stove in the room 

.0. MURPHY; .If your ITotior risaiset .1 offer' the re-



Go on Officer? A Underneath the carpet near the 

stove, we found a silver watch and chain. 

Qow had this watch been described to you by the c 

plaining witness before you found it? A Yes, in the stat 

outle said 

ever nand. what he said, but had he given you a 

cription  of it? A yes 

You found a silver- watch under a flap of the carpet? 

Yes, sir; near the stove. 

I•show you this and ask you if that is the watch? 

Why do you open the hack cover, officer?. 

BR. MCDONALD: I object to that, as immaterial: 

relevant ani incompetent4. 

TH113 COURT: .1 will allow i 

MR MacDONALD: Exception. 

Because the *complaining !witness told me that, no the. pit 

of this watch, which was a Tiffany watch that 1244:i been presented 

.to him, was  the. name . ..the: woman that gave it to  the woman-

.:USed tC,:work 



soription when you  found the 

watch, *tTObn Conlon from Bird, -l89470 

Then / marched Denike, and 1 found a Canadian coin in 

pocket, a penny, and I asked him if it belonged to him, and he 

said it 'didn't. And asked him where he got it, and he said 

he didn't know how it got into his pocket. 

And the Daily woman was putting her shoes and stockings 

on, and Martin shook his fist at her, and said "You got me in 

his trouble. And we searched the room, az didn't find 

Did she make any reply to that? A She looked at him1 

and didn't make any reply. When they were dressed, Officer 

Lavack and myself took the three of them and the complaining 

witness to the 22nd Precinct. Station House. 

At that. time you didn't find the pocketbook or 

knife that the complainirtg witness claims .to have lost? 

Now, what happened in the station house? A 111 the 

station house they took their pedigrees, and the doorman too 

them back to the cells the matron took her back- and the. door 

man took the other two .the two, men. and I told him to put, 

the two men at different ends of the prison. 

been lacked up, the doorman opened the prison 

between them. 



a. conversation between 

3. MacDONALD: I object if ,you are going, to relate 

the conversation. 

a, conversation together? IL Yes., sir 

Did you. listen to the conversation? 

Mromrs, what was it? 

R. IradriONALD: I object to the queCtiaRpnol -

0 the presence of the defendant, 

THE Wl.TNSS: I Will state 

ould hear the conversation. 

she locked up in the same tier of cells? 

Well, you. could 'hear between the Cells; they are so alUat 

Thi COURT: o, I will sustain  the objection,  an 

. strike out the officer's statement that the- defendant. 

could hear t, and the jury will, disregard that. Iwill 

allow' you to testify, Officer, to anything that Martin 

said to this defendant, which you beards_ or -anything that 

'this defendant said to Martin in the' prison cells. 

THE WITNESS: Well, I was in there, and the defendant 

Martin called out, "Marian" and she answered 

you want"? 

Tig CO 



iS defendant indicating 

ow a converoat 

bad with her. 

CROSSIgatIVAT.varY. . ..,:me0D.ONATAPil • •.. 

Q Now,:off ic er time of  the morningof Novernbór: 

009- did you ..letic$ the police station, with the complaining 

..witness? ..• :A -I should judge between two and :three OploCk,.y. 

Botw0en two and  three o'clock? A Yes, sir; it was 

to wait .for Officer Lava. ck Who was at eight Court, wanted 

to take the officer with me. 

Did you .notice the -notice the appearanceOf the CM-

plaitiant ,at that time? Did you notice in his appearance that"( 

he bad been drinking? A I.Should say that be had been, drink-

ing a little.. 

You notiOed 'signs of drink? 4 A little:. 

You 'noticed little signs of drinking? A Yes., -air. 

ct Now, the police station? A 434 West 37th 

s

 

tree t. 

And how long have you been on the faros? A Almost eight 

yearp.: 



if Ur''. 

3 

What 'house?. -station house?' 

:MaipPNATID:: 

338 :-.West at Street?. A Between two and three: . , 

elo'Cjudge. 

And,when ,you...-enteredl. *byre did you go? :A. Tip  two 

flights of stairs„, ..o a hall bedroom, in the back.. 

Did .the .complaining:Witnesp;. 

,Pi4 her go in:.,)111.0-: you? A Yes . 

CI, An, era, where did you go? Went:.. .4.óWna li 

stairs to .a room in the  back, whore the witness 

Said that, that was where' the assault and robbery was coimnitted. 

.ct 'Did:he go in with you?. A Yes we went in there and 

sat down. 

And he Said that that was the room? A Yes. 

And then where did you go? A Then we went up to - 

the top floor again, 1n the front. 

Q, Yes. A And into the room there where :the three de-

fendants were the Daily woman Denike, and Martin and the, 

other Woman, and that's where the complaining witness pointed. 

the Daily woman out as the woman who brought him there. 

lt And about what time did you arrive upstairs there? 

A Between two and three; it was maybe a little after "three 

o clock 

Between the same hours as you left the police station? 



I didn't look at the time, Itwa between that time. I 

figured the arrest was made about four o'clock, when we got 

through Searching. 

And then you went into a room, and who did you see 

there? A• I seen the defendant Daily, Wank Martin, Stephen 

Denike and another woman, who  said that she was Martin's wife. 

• Q And where did you see this woman (indicating the defend.. 

ant)? A The woman was in bed with Stephen Denike. 

q Where did you see Prank Martin? 

Standing up near the window in the rooms near the 

front of the room. 



Au he wan'ithu ding up? A Yee, sir. 

0, And you opxy- you found a r volver Under tile mat rens 

With  blank Ositridgen in: It? A loaded 

1Ralc, dartr-dges., e4dept one blank ohrzabero 

-.Q 'There 'Ilia!' no thing in that '04ar41-)e,r1-

Notr, tiffio;er didritt You go to the. cOxwlaining 

nese and  say,. ere in rriur vi.s.tah in your -pooket?1, 

And then didn t you go overto the ot.t.,pe and da 

the watch (illu trating) this watch under 

this earpot?1,9 A lick, T fovid th watch under the 

oexpet „and owed Lh oorp1aLning an:dt he 

ictentit 

llatliONAL1): 

M noveto -strike it out.. 

coma.;will l 

reation that it in iaily reeponsiV 



t004 like you to t.0 me ig.iis Whitt this" lies it 

when you and your fellow officer reached 330 West 31st streets 

etOmp •mit with the complaining witnelle &bout at. t 

should judge it was &bout- 3 &ass 

And  when you .reached that house, what we the firs 

thing that you and your fellow officer and the complaining wit" 

nessclid?• You went into the house? 

Went into the house* and ascended two flights of stairs. 
Now did you go to the front or back,when you got up? 

Back, 

you went- to the door of a room? 

A. Yes, 0 

Q What did you do. Did you knock on the door? 

A Yea, sir, and / got no response. And the door was open 

tried itand found it wasn't locked I" opened it, and there 

was a man laying in bed, and I asked the complaining Adtness 

if it was the man that assaulted and robbed hirtil and he eatd 

And then I took him downstairs 

q Took whom" A rook the ceeplaining witness, to a 

room on the floor below, where I aw the door open. And* the 

minute he got in there, he said,. IThis is the rooni where i 00-

burred. And there wan .a mai in there t cooking big supper, 

and I asked :hint, wan this the mu t‘nd he said 

Vilt COURT No, do not naywhat was said ther 

.0trakit that out. 



compin.ining Mi. into t 

Q Now w long do you think it w1 what 'is' 

bent rcn-:ollectiont halo long do you think it W41; fXVIth thetime -

laolle0 that, houvm until y left it, v4th the oomilabian 

and the fief8.1-,d.arit et,nd your iirot er- offiaer, A About an hour, 

d riihb bay "ne fm a 1tlmore than 

I wan With 

t1iin1ing that e pole . who Ixad tfo=r4 bed thin assault nd 

be‘4.44-y wk*Auld ot2Ae bc waited-

Tu other words 

down on MI* 1owe3' floor 

.1.0ww,r 

nt 0' tarip:,1,1.3.1):airig ifleSfl :Me with 

The People rest. 



he dofndant, of Z38 Vest.. 33t etre 

being duly woan, testified as oUowr 

C se Daily, VIA& -you an ewer quest Lone, 

talk 'loud enough so that all t 3urOz'5 can hear you, 

THE WITNESS t 

NALD4 alerrOg 

ow t Mt vorieut 0-r presitier 7th, 1909 

• o:1" ;la yeti remember Novorober 6th, 1.V09 

THZ 0 IL tow) madam* you 'sill haVo to ta 

great ta oudtru You had b ter. raise your veils 

0 that the juror who it  flarthest away from yo 

may"ear ev itio24 you SAY* 

BY B,31,C,7102 

ereLti4oU live at that tie? A 338 'feet, 31 

ct Now what p4 of tt se &Xa you live in? A. 

.flOor* trout 

1Cow long did you livt, there? A T Should judge 

about f : 

Are du. 
icArrlodt•

 

-

our: taisimit truebtattt Of t 

Pat ,.ove taw.t iiv fttg b angotrig 

1 rTiri,`, t1;441; ti:t1f1; okp t 



.11.(WiOng 1:11d ,. you st47:00pe 

o'clock, thd we 4300 about 

wt.o:.04 

yr* o .,t174.0.••• *40 

-01;tt we walked from .fel1r441. on. tt. 

4eirontt. to W3oets restauvant, *writ we 10 spriet.hin to eftt. 

• 12.t.W.sn and 28th 01740 11.!**• 

11J, d A W.,11). I ebonld 

4botzt 

And 40* 1 tq .foo tlier / A We3.2, .11*1 

and 1ln sat talking, nd I bad tame sandwich.* 



led the.' Op*, and - we,0 ea* o 

home. It was about half re.40 one he 

I got 10;0 anYhOW-44..... 

you go then? A ilk..went,-; 

-.Qe Who-,O.p.pMpanted you there?.. . A Mr, Mci,tifl and: 

ere were they living ii you know, on the 6 

ember? A 125th street, some place; ust where, 

MR. ltapDONATZ: 

And this was on th November, .1909?-

Q. And when before had you seen Martin and hie Wife/. 

The first time I not:Mr. Martin vas on the 26th of glepteDi 

the 'day of his narriage, the day he  was married*: 

Well,. 'what were You at the parriage?.. A I stood' 

for him and his wife, 

( Did you know him or his wife before Ica 

Se .tife41 I never' net him before that,'before the 26th of 

September. 

Mul hen this was the sepond time that you„met.' :11 



Sit 
when'you arrived home, was rtyrbodr in your rem? 

sirs this Ste'retY Theake WAS • in 

our b..io A Yee, air 0 

•Q Thid VOU known Stephen Denike? A To. 
• Hat youknown him long? A T blew hir aixor liere 

months, Something' around that. Stevey Denike 

and .1 

What . did yOu arrtie hoMe ITovemI?or ?th, in themo 

? ant half past one, 

44 And Where did you go then? Mat did ,you do thou? 

How in 'it that liartin .and•his wife. stayed tkare that night? 

!ell it Waa. latest and I requested them to stay oveqa.Untit. 

inorning, o etay with me all night, and go up home in .the m0 

in  It • was 10 e • 

NOW what tine? 'MO it that these people entered your 

room? A Well I should judge Iwipic.at home and in bed 

about an -hour or an hour and a half, oomething like that:, when 

heard Ulm block on the door, and I told thiS Mr. Mt-xtin to get 

itrld'oryen the door, and then the two offic ere and the.Ooni., 

plainant 

7:3Y THY 

q mut you seen him hero  that night'? ail you seen 

the ooriplaining /witness before that that- night? A 2rc, sir. 

BY M. lifAcDoNAlm; 

And witat 4 t Oa patio Y. Mar-Lint s 

4141 



ut4ndiztg on the. floor with *nd the lainant 

poiited be out, 

with. And the7 wei'e talking, 414. 

while, to see what wis th-rtikt.o;*4 an. bp .:tiel4 ttl 

.1iiroVeht rao.it 

.!i; )zs.*: went or mid tot% orthin out. or ',hilt.'an4 ho 
• 84id.t :FIG .4t$1..y.titi.r. 10034011.* 

And thin. h.walkedor, teld Irma* ..out that /14 

thing fr tnetif* -.,clurp.et:r,. st,r4d 

t yOrir •!./0.4.041.1*(X3;340.ti4t4:041 he gad 

d.. the it.4d TotrittavIr. 14*.q0nk: 

:374.1r01vei a5 t}t A That I s iy reyOliet,‘k . 

Vtere.d nd left it there, 

• .*Izen, Tv, wont away 

it alwayr; bflen uncier the mattress incA your 

_:fieshi'vtd. left there! ? sir, always. 

Q And c1i yu no.ne cornplainittir (witness 

Olen; ‘saw biz? 

lATRPITY.i One rtonerit 

A Yet!, !me uneler he influence Qf 

17e11, t too .;,ato t 

61).j et now. t tOrt !stun)ose* 

BY VP AI licao,MNA74); 



you ft s ao osta 

whetherhSIS was 'any raise 

BY.R14037,xn 

Q. And whit al ti the o•tribere then oa 

ow. they Start to sintersth fa1ow, lapped, thmt 

f.Ce, and One ng.or another and told us, to go dretiS 

toldand  this lit tie Wotan to o.. e erever 

They let ,o on :out and took ze on down to th'e AtatiOn 

.ho.usei Denike, and .myself.. 

t tRjne did you arrlve at tb,E, sta.tiort house? ii.bo 

sehat It 3.1.# about twenty minutes past four in t 

°ruing* Ztinday .0o7Minet 

When was the, fiat time yew aver saw the ,complaining 

witLea? A When h,fai came up to Ay roost with the two offic, 

41. Had you %ever oeen him.be.fore thatt 

Q Wht wati the fiet fart/. 700, ev.pr at* that 'watch 

are you talking, almut?".: '[ff. aj4. thi t• in a leer 



to 112,0,1) in GotOionhousit 

TINTH =MR 

What room did.ou 000upy? A The top floor, trot' 

And You a&Y you had but one- It= in that house? 

1 he 0 i3 tad vie that Watt gOlAg to talc+, - the 

Its didn't have much i3O so,y,bocause:i1 uø 1ate 

Was that all he said to you? A That was about an. 

well"; Wilart elaav_ You say it was about 

A Well thi8 Denike was sick over there 

He was your husband's friend and he was sic 

were viovrie4- tt. out Ian? 

-q Aust 4isplaiying a Tien:617 nt.ereetl. A YOB 



Q Yet you knee him well ewugh so that he *ts in•yur 

this oor you ome back to - your. rooms on On • that night 

gigOt 1:••• -.object.. to that as ist*iterkis,1::-

..r.elevant .-and....inootpet-ent4 

'our Xo an ri.rOur bed.? 

.06,11.1a,a) obj ect;ad O, imaterial 

evant inPartpetent • 

*AIL, NURPTfr: *- hersell 

if your Itonor,V.Lease. 'like to .0-60-104! es 

• th tness unneeesse,rily.., bu I b.ink it ia Iv eutto 

auk the quest 

T)rir; COURT : / do not tink that you. uan,.add.:.anything. 

'in tha It is oonp,ed he pas j the room. 

.and in the heal and replained_therewith her until the 

fiotlra ordered him to its 

141,

 

1UBHT: Very well, sir. T will ncr. the 

quest ion, , 

vote 

Q 110 that's OttrIlusb4ndt.s tlarle? . 

No, •Otti4.-own Ratkinaent 

ett tyo'e you• 11Orn.,. 



Hew 1.0 6U 'been _r"rrie 

ere wereyou riarried? A iraeton•t pfransylvan 

e you married :ustio. Krause* 

he'slle4M1 mew 

Did. You 1490eiver an  dittifiostit-e? Yes,eir 

ith has got it, A Mymothez' ha 0 ,ot 

A. TA Easton Psrartsylvaniae 

WII.eire did you  60r4 from to New York? A I came 

Paterson, ew Jersey, over her 

qt• And how long have you been in Paterson? A. A u 

yeart 

About what A About one yetarf 

rt What were ypu doing in Paterson. 

TlEM COURT: ifadarn it iøperfectly useleSs for yo 

sit there, and talk ao that- the jurims. to not 

The twelfth, juror says that he canno,t 

You have nothing- to .be afraid or, 

--twelve gentlemen- can hear. what you 

and talk to tiem }ro* 0 ahead 



11.11.111,•.•Mt PRINP•Arerippompem 

45 

11 a er 

r my husband. He used to work in a silk mill over there 

And about eight _months ago you moved to New York aft 

A Yes, sir. 

And what did you do in New York? A My husband was-

keeping.r/Ae until ft *YAW before my arrest. 

What did he do. to make a living for .you and bimself? 

A He .Worked in a restaurant* on Sixth avenue* 

.4 And where did you live with 'ii m? A Welllived 

25tb street* until I moved to 31st 13tXieet. 

When did you move to 338 West 3ist street? A When, 

ct *es, 

BY TRZ COURT; 

Q AbOut how long before you .were arrested.? A live - 

weeks.. 

BY M..IRPff 

Q And how long five' 'eke how large. a part of the 

did your h.nfibaxid live with you 

You avail t hear- me? 

iitreet? 

1 am marry, 

A T can t hear Pal* 

A Na* air. 

(question repeated)... 

lour weeks.. 

At 338, West 3 

Was he working then? A Yes T. 

A id when you said in -the Police Court* in answer to the 

Police Court," Clerk s question* that your business was house.. 



q And did you take your peals oti 

cooked ridit there in tie roma , 

Q Andyour husband left you elm 

rreetedlA Tea' 

q Did he tell you that he s o ng, o leave? A Well, 

he was talking about going back to Paterson again a,ndd goih 

back 140 the silk, 

Zid he ou when he .10,0 

Arid øo that you had no isnowle or information that 1iu 

wa going to leave you  

When did you decide that he had left you; after how 

we or three 

that the first time that you were separated from 

lour, liustand-.-since you were inarrid to him? 

And. he left you without any word , warning? A Yee, 



• 
 And it didn't occur to you to look for him at the 

silk mill where he had been previously employed? 

vas going over. the 210X t Wit ek • 

And how soon after your husband left did you see tienike? 

I didn't e e him until that night that we had this troubl.e; 

that the man brought the two officers up there* 

Well then you moan that your husband. had left the. 

aturday previous to your arrests and you had not him, 

afore that Saturday night? A es, sir, only  on 

atU*-day night he came 

Q And the /met Saturday night before that ybur husban 

wa there?, •Yee, 

And when you say he came down* from where .do youise 

e lived uptown somewhere ;- 159th street* T thinki, 

when he came d t understand yow# 

BY VIZ 00tritr ; 

Rad be ever slaept in your, room for the 

that n A Yes, your .Honor, 

-*hen- your hueband vitt with you, A Tea* 

Where did, hi :sleep? A Ire elept 011 the floor. 

So that, When you came back from the restaurant* where 

. you ay that ea had been withlkrtino you were AP 

rieed to find him there, and did .find him there n bed 



11 thl way throu 

took You ti the theatre and also to the restaurant? 

alre you kriGwn ztin 

firs 00 IVat 

e vats-nOxYlAl 40'110 

1iA itwas r.44.)t the 27th? 

26th or 27th; 2 an nOt ure vetch; 26t1.4 rairoz, 

Q You were a bi&ma2d A Yee, sir. 

'But, you made no note of the de. 

rant ger1embe2" ye 

Now. did you latow 

Yes) oir;6. 

Q, How lore 

• e did you 

her by a little /ady fid. 

little laxly fr 

did you neet h 

n We'et 25th strf)et 

And you had 



ta And you did act as bridesmaid? 

%Thave you Seen Tillie Morrissey* or Mr8. Martini tin 

you have been arrested and locked up? A. op sir. 

011  been to the Tombs to see you? 

4. have  you 1104 *ty vieitore at the Tombs i except your 

Couros4;? 

Have you ',to, ked with  Martin sine, you were. Arrested 
*to, 'Sir* 

:ct 'Did you talk to him Or the night. 5e0.1.1 .yr#re arrested 

Q Did you talk to him in the room, on 0141' night. 

Conran left for the first time -0414"Pefere be 1.4tu)04 

on' t want you to lead. yo 

careful in answering those 

on' h*u3id your counsel 

YacDOITALD: 

trict Attorney-, if your nonor please  



anything improper 

-0n4.1, but 

case before you took th etand here before or eince your ar-

you nay you left the nteio hall about a quarto 

even 
• 

AnElarvyou wire of the time? A Tea sit * * 

there tthe leaving of the theatre tha 

impressed't ur. niind A Well, nothing 

was -a cimart or aft•er "014,0 

Well it might; 'been a quitxtexi past 

MacD011ALDI . •

 incompetent and improper. 

jr cosum.: went .1. tail* gilte hiou betktifIeti tt 

Po arOonea 11041.E,Mgo ezcept :she :41:a_s Oven, 



4. opped uovdipre 

Q Mid you say it was tlitlilva•-o/0100t when ott arrive 

at the St iiitra)74 MI of that. 

Vartin -t-tifi98 that it was-oxift o 

• :OhcnorALD 

THE COURT : Obi eat ima 

VUENTY: 

Q Well you aru sure it was twelve o'clock? 

And "how long did you stfAy thlgre? abput-

quarter *past one. 

qt. Ana. did you g frort.the.re direct to your. aPartsle 

And vhat time Ud you get to your aPartnent? 

-ohotaci 47u4ge- about latlf peat one. 



earlier than that, A No, sir* 

And no later? A ell, that T dot know. wa 

between half past ono and two o'clock* 

•, NOW you 'say that thin revolver balanced to your husban 

e rertolver in evidence? A Yes, air, 

And yet/ hoard the °Vic.; ry Offio r Watzoi 

he carte In, said to ;Martin Itilihere is th&tr resvolyer? 

ZIT, 

Well, will you swear that Officer Watson didn't asy to 

t'Whore is t...aat revolv'T that vas in this housef 

I didn't hear him sa 

aciXNAT,D I ohjct, and moveto strike out 

that answer 'to that, quest ...on as airea4 answered* 

Tr COURT: T will allow it, to stand. 

1oDOITKI.D: Exception. 

BY 25R YURPTIY: 

Youdidn t hear any • comment made- Hartirt, by Offioer 

A. .Y00  heard the fficor tal"test imp wrilt, 00w 

::41011: you! . .1.14iii*:.:j.t.* zy that. 



Q Well., did you uar the offic r say to Martin, Where 

the'gnn that you had in the rooe" 

And did you hear rartin say that therq was no gun in 

d you were in a position where you oould hear al 

the convnroation that took place between the 'officer and 

.But you didn't hear any oonversa ion between anyone 

and. the offibqr about a revolver?' 

•Whendid you first kilo* tht the offioers wanted thIs 

• revolver that your meband had? A When they were searching 

the room, when they lift d up the mattresses, And I always 

kept it there, and never handled it. My husbandpu 

there, and t dith''t ner disturb it. 

Tdd you know wi her it wai loaded or not? A• Ø3i• 

I knew thAre was something in it. 

there were cartridges in i didn't 

• A Yes • 

Then this was taken up from between the miLttressee, 

or the ticking, or wilattmer you mayGail 1 Indio-

ating people'sExhibit 1)?-

(1- Then you irny the eticer want Olter 



scribe that? A W11, he took the watch out.,,orr;b1s pocket 

(illustratin 

Out of wbose pocket? A T don t knew- what his nazi 

f Conlon s pocket.?A Yes. AM 

your watch," and he cni, d it low. And ihen he 

And picke up my .c.rpt a littiehit, nd1io].dt 

tab Fl OUV Me 

COra on. said. that's ply -watch 

Q The Officer held up  the watch? 

the chain illustratin 

Q. And aid "'fere 0 your .fratch, and then walked Orer• 

the end of the carpet, too— it from under the .earpOt?-

. lot ..Attorney .1 tio 

'hat ynu .have it jtt as the tne ss t es t if ed..* 

11R4 UB1'tY That wau ay understandinii. 

IE COURT : 

Now you may oust' tell us again what you say. the 

florin's did? A The officer walked over to this SrIi, Conlon* 

took the .1.0.tch out of his pecket (indicating the vest-. 

here 8 your watch." 

*Vert

 

and 1.341.415 up the cupet1 ae tiioh he was 

going to  -pop '0:4* , the **4.0V 



u board olitireryiasow :ed remark that he made 

-002404 A YeB, air and. T Saw the watch i.rz his band, 

14x14 40 you remember  .saying to Conlon, *Fait until .79 

• Into 'court to-morrow. What will your wii7e say to 

never used any .such -expression. 

And didn't Conlon say, "What *will your hustkan 

A No, sir. 

None..of that conversation tooimplace7 

You didn't see Conlon at any time before is was le 

into your room by the °ma/a.? never.. 

Have you ever been before the Night Court ., and.conTic 

there Of soliciting?' A. No, sir. 

kT4 !racZONALD: .I object to the queotiot, as inuna 

terialt irrelevant and: incompetent and Improper. 

TyrE cOU I will allow it e elniawer jr "No 



Firinoo .a meek 'before 

b_eltsn doing to me: A ling n th time 

your 31,11. sold. left you until ax404. IV. or 

-Honor. husband left- .x4.0 money 

t*- betw.oen "...vo3.5r0 and thi±teen dofla 

%bog: t .271= etv.b.n. 4011al. 

yo.o.) n-clouroe-1. beri that ,aux_ waiu 

golag to leave A 

R. VaaDOITATZ 1116 reatist, 

r. T do not •know...how: p&nt ±t er4a3, 

oeturiliel for the.defortoo, but. T vitt be 

pLet y nr.ng up in ftve'rtitrutelle 

IIL eln,JOTA 044 I tiontt know that, 

more ta.n :hat, 'bnt, I dentt like to b 

...en COURT go • llar# and talc 

e tIrto tlmt you tailnic t11-14 !moo ca11 for. 

5acDCTh1ALD: Thurik yoU 

. aol)omatl. supped. up. for t.he defense, an4 Jtr• 

Murphy clod the case. for the People) • 

THE rzzr:errIt Z131/011: Your' 1Mnor, ay a qu,tion 

tiiae7. • 

SOitpal no 



efen-dan 

-h04.1-ed in this indietmeni .*it4,1.US 

mint with the _crime of grand larceny in its first' degree. 

She is also charged in the indictment with the crime of 

sault in its first degree; And she is, lastly„ Charged- in 

the. indictment with the crime of criminally receiV ng toJ 

-count in the indictment which charges 

- her with the crime of criminally receiving stolen propert 

is withdrawn from your consideration and this case goes 

to you, gentlemen, ill order that you as the exclusive 

judges of the facts, may determine from the evidence, as 

fendant is guilty.of the crime of robbery in it5 first 

degree and, under the contingencies about to be mentioned 

to you, whether or not she i guilty f the crime of grand 

larceny in s first degree and, under the, contingencies 

about to be mentioned to you, Whether or not she is guilty 

of the crime of assault in its second degree. 

The lex defines the crime of robbery, and to the law's 

definition of that crime T invite your attention. 

Robbery is the unlawful taking of ,peesonal ,propeity 



from the person of another against hi IMMO o 

force or 'violence* 

obberY in i s fiDt degree is an. un 

compulei on, if accompli shed by force, by a or  

with a -dangerous weapon, or) in thfi alternative aided b 

an accomplice actually present. 

• It is not the contention of taia Peop1:e 4.0 at k 

_endant used any unlawful force or n3r forde whe,tso 

upon the person of the comPlai.ning-iiitnees. it is nat. 

contention of th People that this defendant took any 

.personal property from the person of the complaining wit, 

nen,* either y means of force or iriolence..) ozi anY 

er means. But 1t.iathe contention of th .Pecfple-th t 

-personal Rroperty wao• taken. from the person of .the..00 

plaining witneSs b3 a ,man b the name of Martiu,tha.t such 

-personal property was taken from the - person of the complain•

 

. 

ing Witness ',against the will of the complaining ,iatudit 

-and that it yrs taken fi-ora the person of the 'complaining 

witness' by means of.-force or -violence used bythen named. 

Martin towards the c1pia1nin witness".. 

It is the contention of t1r People, asI uriderStand 

their cont ent ion that that t flue Mart in was .z.trMed , with  

-a. dangerous weapon, and, more particularly, with this re-

volver which as been offerecl, and- received in evidence 

and it to. the 'contention of the People that Martin was 



aided 17 an. T.laccoMpl• the 

0 

The 2.aw 

Ample that this defendant "4410-4. S ACM 

ly was the ac*014P34ce ot Martin., 

'that a peaoiS concerned An the cois 

on *fa crime* 'whet/ter he directly ooMmits the act con-

stituting the *Vele., *r aids and abets in its commission 

and whether Present or absent-, atd a person who directl 

indirectlyor  c*uneeI0, oaMmands,, induces oT Procures 

other to somanit a crime, is a principal. 

The theory of the Prosecution, as I understand'th 

theory or their claim that you are justified from.. the 
_ 

evidence in finding this defendant guiltY Of the orim0 of 

robbery in its.first degreet is predleated UPOn 

tention.that, Chore origibated either it the mind of th 
ffie 

defendant on the one hand, or af Martin,. n t e.o ars, 

an or scheme to rob some one and that that plan or 

Scheme was communicated by the One in whose mind it on  

inated to the other, and that, pursuant to such plan, 

this defendant addressed certain language to the complain. 

in  witness, upon the_street, in the Borough of Yanhat 

for the purpose of inducing this complaining witness to 

o to. a place with her, the defendant, at which he 4 

ant in another case, and the Person Who ha s been named in 

thiS case ae,Yartint might Perpetrate the crime of robbery

upon the person of the oomplai rung vitness and. theCon—

Ali1115 :7-

" 



'4int1424 013.34.: is that, nzrsuazt to sue l*, th. 

defendant .41d eitiace,or fLsad the complaining witness 

the premises 38 West 31st street, in the Borough of Uu 

hattano and. that Martin was there, .and that: Martin; 

with the aid of this defendant, robbed the complaining, wit 

ne5s a8 *try is detined in the law and the coat, en-

t ion of the People is.that the evidence will warrant 

finding this defendant guilty or tle crime of robbery in 

s first degree, under such circumizitances. 

The guilt 0±...this defenUant.o the, 'Crime of robbery 

assuming .that ou entertain no reason-

able doubt uPOn  evideic• that 'Martin. did what it is 

testified thivS he.did dn• by. the .00mp1aning witness, de-

he -oirbtirqstande as to Whether or.. not the de-

fendant .aided .gart-in in the cowdesion of that offenses. 

assuming that Martin did. i 

If this defendant.m t the complaining witness upon 

the street, and solicited iim to go to e-mg-

West 31st street, but not with the intent that he should 

be there robbed, and did not know that he was to be robbed 

and did nothing by way, of overt,  act or. by counsel 

to assist r aid Martin in the comnsiOnÔf a robber 

there, if one was committed .this .defendant. cànOt be con 

Oted of the crime of robber in its -firstdegre** n 

ter how jnora1 yoiay regard her condnctr„ 



,L 

upon theOffidence., .you believe the defendant to 

e innocent of the .or me of 'robbery in it* first degree, 

or if, upon the evidence you -entertain a reasonab 

doubt respeOting er giilt or that oin1e, you will, oo 

p.ider the question of the defendant's guilt or innoCeno 

f the crime of grand larceny in its firstdegree. 

The law. says that a person who, with the intent 

deprive the true owner of his property, takes from t e 

session of the. true owner personal property, Steals sue 

property,  and. is guilty Of larceny.: ere propexk 

taken 'from the person of , another, in the night time,the 

prime, if One has been committed, is grand larceny in its 

first degree, and that irrespective Of .the. value of the 

property taken.: 

The  question of this defendant's -guilt or innocence „ 

of the crime of grand. :larceny in• its first degree  depends -

• on .whether ehe aided -gemtin in the commission - Of e...S,lar*, 

,peny, .upon. the assumptiOn temporarily that you entertain 

upon the evidence no reasonable doubt that yartin did 

commit a larceny in the -taking of personal property from 

the person of the complaining witness. .In  other words, 

it is not the contention of the People that this defend-

ant personally took any personal property from the person 

of the complaining witness. 

Her guilt or innocence of that crime upon the as-

unvtion that the crime of grand larceny was committed, 



of a person concerned commission of a crimes 

either by directly cornitting the act constituting the 0 

fence, or y aiding and abetting00.0W 

• If, upon the evidence, you 1?elieirtt her to be innocent 

of tiat crinet or. if, upon- the erridenife., you.'ent ertain 

reasonable doubt respecting ,her guilt :of that- c'i.rne, you 

will•consider  the question of her guilt or innOoeflCe 

e Crime of .Pmffiault in its second'degree#: 

The law says that a person who wilfully and wrongful. 

ly assaults another by the use of a dangerous weapon is 

guilty of an assault in its second degree. It is not the: 

contention of the Prosecution that\this defendant assaulted 

the complaining witnessi. gar. Vat -Or.innpoence of that 

crime depends assuming that .0.10.00mPiainihg witness va* 

• as0441t04,-upOn whether or net.ehe answers to th 

of a person concerned.in s Oormission . . 

scription of ore aiding and abetting in its comra 

r: to. the description of one either directly or 

counseling in its commission. 

The defendant conten4s that you should not 

guilty of any of the crime ibmitted.to you or 

at ion, because she contends that the .evidence of the corn., 

plaining witness, plus the evidence of the officor, if it 

corroborated by the /widence of the otficei' should be 



good =sat 4.1sf1ctory by you. 

..t oub,nd0, tbat she "Argot ølsewhere  a 

coml. 

ea nd by her evidence upon the stand 

4enial. that the ctOplaining's,4tness watt'the :y.ictim of a 

crime committed or participated in by one. 

defendant Cotes to the bar with the presumption 

of Jnnooence, which, means that under OUT vat em of 

prudence,ahe is. not. required, to af'irinatively establish 

the act. Of: her innocence, :IS it be a fact 

blirdert of. proof is upon the Preseciutionl. and that. burden 

requires' -that, before 'yo a can find Itami# Daily guilty of 

n.ay of the. crimes mentioned in the indlotram 

.satisfied from the evidencei beyond a.reason 

of her guilt. It hisaxis that there are two contin encie 

in either - one of which she is entitled to a verdict of 

not guilty at .your hands.) .natelyi 'first1 if upon. the  eyi 

once you believe her to- be innocent, or, secondly,. i-fuon 

he evidence you entertain a reasonable doubt respecting 

her guilt* 

You will give this case gentlemenItheoarefUl aonsid-

-er4ion which it-merits*.if the an-idenee satisfies You 

beyond a realoono,b3,•6: 

.w413.. be yov,- uty b o find. T you blieye he to le • 



doubt respect:1ot. h 

11 be your" duty o -render a verdict of to 

You. are tO be wholly iminfluenoed by any rulin 

curt during the:progress and you 

ided '00 17, by the evidence, and you *ill app 

-deride, th.e rules of law Stated to You in thie 

The j fotuid the defend= guilty. of robbery 

the first degree)-, 

gaoDONA,T2). Will your ROUOr the sentence dowzi 

for Monday? 

T117 COURT: RaTe you any riot ionsto xr'itke? 

MR. 34CaolOONALD: T would like t c make the mat ions at. 

• that •time, if your Honor please. 

THE COURT: . mat it is conceivable in this 

case that Imight want t o take the matter under. 44Tisement:, 

.a motion is TOM de, Will suggist that 

you get a copy of the record. tuir -dase..* 

mor T 

ment on Monday, 



THE COURT: Just for the purpose Of going over the 

evidence to see whether the evidence warranted that par-7 

ticular verdict. 

MT.MUPHY: yes, I will get the record •fr 

the stenographer. 

TEE COURT: I will remand the defendant until Monday, 

and on Monday you may make such motions as you may be 

advised. 

MR MacDONALD: 'Yes, sir. 

M. MURPHY: Now, will your Honer hear m -a o 

defendant_ Denike or the man jointly indicted with this 

woman and Martin? 

THE COURT: ThBP 

R. MU'RPHY: Prom zstr investigation before both trials 

and from the evidence developed in both trials, IWU, C On" 

vinced that there is nothing disclosed as to I2im, Denike 

that would warrant the People in going to trial in his 

case, and, therefore, I respectfully recommend that he be 

diecharged on his own recognisance. 

THE COURT: grant the motion. 

IgURPHY: And will your Honor „direct the  Clerk 

o turn over the watch to the Complainant? Or, perhaps,. 

as you  are going to hear argument in the .tter of a new 

trial, perhaps it had, better be kept here 



_ned over to the comp1ainnt now Couse13or, 

1' you on Monday. I want to consider wither the •i 

cc is sufficient to show' the paxticipation of this, 
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